# MAGNESIUM IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

# Maurice E. Shils

Departments of Medicine, Cornell University Medical College and Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, New York 10021

### **CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION
HOMEOSTATIC CONTROLS
Dietary Intake
Absorption
Renal Regulation
Summary of Homeostatic Factors
REQUIREMENTS FOR HEALTHY INDIVIDUALS
MAGNESIUM DEFICIENCY
Magnesium Deficiency in Humans
Comparison of Human Experimental and Clinical Magnesium Depletion
Physiological and Biochemical Correlates of Magnesium Depletion
MAGNESIUM DEPLETION IN VARIOUS DISEASE STATES
Prevalence
Alco holism
Diabetes
Malabsorption
Protein-Energy Malnutrition
Kidney Disease and Nephrotoxic Drugs
Post-Parathyroidectomy Hypomagnes emia
Antileptic Drugs
MAGNESIUM ALTERATIONS AND POSSIBLE DISEASE DEVELOPMENT
Cardiac Abnormalities
Hypertension
MAGNESIUM REPLETION
HYPERMAGNESEMIA AND MAGNESIUM TOXICITY

### INTRODUCTION

Clinical magnesium depletion in humans was was first described in 1934 in a small number of patients with various underlying diseases (81). Flink and associates in the early 1950s documented depletion of this ion in alcoholics and in patients on magnesium-free intravenous solutions and described clinical consequences of this deficiency, often in association with depletion of other nutrients (59). A series of clinical case reports in the early 1960s helped focus attention on the occurrence of hypomagnesemia in various malabsorptive states and stimulated efforts to study magnesium depletion and its consequences under controlled conditions. Increasing numbers of clinical disorders associated with magnesium depletion have been recognized, including the effects of certain drugs that induce renal losses of this nutrient. Experimental and clinical observations have revealed fascinating interrelations of this ion with other electrolytes, second messengers, hormone receptors, parathyroid hormone secretion and action, vitamin D metabolism, bone function, and other changes associated with the fundamental roles of this ion in intermediary metabolism.

# HOMEOSTATIC CONTROLS

# Dietary Intake

Magnesium is widely distributed in foods. It is the mineral ion of chlorophyll; hence, green vegetables are an important source. Similarly, ingestion of animal products, legumes, and cereals helps assure a good intake. Intakes in a national survey in 1977–1978 of adult females and males averaged 230 and 310 mg, respectively (188a). These figures are very similar to those obtained with free-living healthy men and 18 women aged 20–53 years who subsisted on their customary diets and were analyzed periodically over a year. Their daily intakes varied greatly (e.g. from 132 to 350 mg for women with a mean of 234, and from 157 to 595 mg for males with a mean of 310 mg).

# **Absorption**

Magnesium is absorbed primarily in the small intestine. Perfusion of the jejunum and ileum of normal human subjects indicated that both segments absorbed this ion equally well up to concentrations of about 10 mmol; the ileal absorption process became saturated above that concentration, while that in the jejunum increased (30). The usual enteric conditions with contraction or expansion of luminal volume tend to increase or decrease luminal magnesium concentration, with absorption being influenced significantly by water movement (i.e. solvent drag) (22).

Intestinal transport of magnesium in normal children was compared to that

in a child with the relatively rare genetically determined disorder called primary (or idiopathic) hypomagnesemia (134). Two separate transport systems appeared to participate in absorption from the proximal small intestine. One seemed to be a carrier-mediated system, which saturated at low intraluminal concentrations (2 and 4 meq/L); this system appeared to be defective in primary hypomagnesemia. The other system appeared to be that of simple diffusion and occurred at higher concentration (e.g. 20 meq/L).

Intestinal absorption data from earlier studies averaged from 50 (71) to 60–70% (128, 165, 190) on "usual" diets. More recent studies indicate a greater range (179). Free-living adults who had periodic evaluations over the course of a year while consuming self-selected diets had average absorptions of 21% for males and 27% for females (110). In various metabolic studies, the average absorption was appreciably higher but in most of these the diet was not self-selected.

VITAMIN D AND MAGNESIUM ABSORPTION In contrast to the demonstrated effect of the active metabolites of vitamin D on improving calcium and phosphate absorption in the intestine, the influence of this vitamin on magnesium absorption is uncertain. There are contradictory reports of no effect (82, 195) or of an effect (calcitriol at 2  $\mu$ g per day) in the jejunum but not in the ileum (106). The latter study used segmental perfusion techniques and the data have been questioned (172).

Intestinal absorption of magnesium is reduced in a variety of malabsorption syndromes, in particular those associated with steatorrhea (Table 1). Chronic renal disease of varying severity has been reported either to reduce intestinal absorption of this ion to a major degree (30, 163, 177) or to have little or no effect (40, 105).

# Renal Regulation

TUBULAR ABSORPTION Absorbed magnesium is retained either for tissue growth (including bone) or for use in turnover replacement; the unabsorbed remainder is excreted in the urine. Following glomerular filtration, tubular reabsorptive processes are key to magnesium homeostasis. As the result of micropuncture and in vitro microperfusion studies in the rat, rabbit, and dog, information has been gained on magnesium reabsorption along the nephron (149). Tubular secretion, if it actually occurs, must be a minor factor (149).

Eighty percent of serum magnesium in ultrafilterable, with 20 to 30% being absorbed in the proximal convoluted tubule (111, 149). The thick ascending limb of the loop of Henle appears to be the major site of magnesium reabsorption and the major site of control of excretion: 50–55% of filtered magnesium is resorbed between the thin descending limb and the early distal tubule (111, 149). Changes in concentration of magnesium in the tubular

Table 1 Clinical conditions associated with magnesium depletion<sup>a</sup>

### Malabsorptive gastrointestinal disorders

Inflammatory bowel disease
Gluten enteropathy; sprue
Intestinal fistulas or bypass
Ileal dysfunction with steatorrhea
Immune diseases with villous atrophy
Short bowel syndrome
Radiation enteritis
Miscellaneous other disorders

### Renal tubular dysfunction<sup>b</sup>

Metabolic Hormonal Drug-induced

#### Endocrine disorders<sup>b</sup>

Hyperaldosteronism Hyperparathyroidism with hypercalcemia Post-parathyroidectomy Hyperthyroidism

#### Pediatric genetic and familial disorders

Primary idiopathic hypomagnesemia Renal wasting syndromes<sup>b</sup> Bartter's syndrome<sup>b</sup> Infants born of diabetic or hyperparathyroid mothers Transient neonatal hypomagnesemic hypocalcemia

#### Inadequate intake or provision of magnesium

Alcoholism

Protein-calorie malnutrition (usually with infection)

Prolonged infusion or ingestion of magnesium-low nutrient solutions or diets Hypercatabolic states (burns, trauma), usually in association with previous entry Excessive lactation

lumen and in the plasma affect renal absorption in this segment (151). The distal convoluted tubule was found to have a limited reabsorptive ability (< 5% of the filtered load) while the collecting tubules and ducts normally absorbed very little (35). Micropuncture studies have revealed that the urinary excretory pattern of this ion was a summation of the distinct transport properties of the proximal tubule and of the loop of Henle, so that a true maximum tubular reabsorption (Tm) was not operative (198).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Reproduced with modification from Ref. 172, pp. 164 and 165, with permission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>See Table 2.

METABOLIC AND DRUG INFLUENCES ON RENAL REGULATION Magnesium reabsorption in the nephron is influenced by a number of physiologic and metabolic factors as well as by drugs and disease states (Table 2). Of particular clinical significance with respect to renal losses are the loop diuretics such as furosamide and ethycrinic acid and certain nephrotoxic drugs. The diuretics triamterene and amiloride exert a magnesium-sparing effect, as they do for potassium (161). The renal tubular effects of cisplatin may develop rapidly with serious losses; furthermore, renal wasting may persist for many months after the drug is discontinued. A number of hormones affect magnesium absorption by the kidney (Table 2); for most the effects are usually small and may be indirect.

# Summary of Homeostatic Factors

When magnesium intake is severely restricted in humas with normal kidney function on an otherwise adequate diet, output becomes very small (i.e.  $\leq 0.5$  meq/d) within 5 to 7 days (21, 169). Supplementing a normal intake increases urinary excretion without altering normal serum levels as long as renal function is normal and the amounts given are not excessive (76). The intestinal and renal conservation and excretory mechanisms in normal individuals permit homeostasis over a wide intake of dietary magnesium. Unlike sodium or calcium, there do not appear to be major hormonal homeostatic mechanisms for regulating serum magnesium. The normal range is the result of a balance between the gastrointestinal and renal absorption and excretion processes.

# REQUIREMENTS FOR HEALTHY INDIVIDUALS

A large number of balance studies have been performed over the years in an effort to obtain quantitative data on magnesium requirements (reviewed in 110, 126, 165, 177, 178, 200). There is need for caution in accepting much of the older data because of analytic and procedural problems. Spencer et al (180) noted that 6 to 18 days are required for equilibrium to be established following changes in magnesium or calcium intakes. They note (179) that, of the 22 balance studies cited by Seelig (165), only four had been carried out longer than 15 days in any individual and only two had been performed in adults with a constant dietary intake in a hospital metabolic ward. Many of these studies were performed before accurate methods were available for determining magnesium in the presence of large amounts of calcium particularly, but also of phosphate in feces or in certain foods. The relative unreliability of older analytic data for magnesium in foods has been noted (188a). Atomic absorption spectrophotometry has been used widely since the

Table 2 Metabolic, hormonal, and drug influences on renal magnesium excretion<sup>a</sup>

Increased excretion (Ref.) Hypermagnesemia<sup>b</sup> Hypercalciuria (149, 151) Hyperaldosteronism (88) Hyperparathyroidism<sup>c</sup> (89) Renal tubular dysfunction Familial renal wasting syndromes Primary magnesuric hypomagnesemia (78, 203); Bartter's and related syndromes (16, 20, 72, 73, 122) Post-renal obstruction (43) Post-renal transplantation (43) Acute tubulointerstitial nephritis (29) Nephrotoxic drugs Amphotericin (31); cisplatin (23, 144) Aminoglycosides (19, 101); cyclosporin (186) Potassium depletion (143) Alcoholism (57, 59) Increased extracellular fluid volume (149) Phosphate depletion (44, 107) Diuresis Diuretics (47, 86, 127, 149, 161) Osmotic (diabetes, glucose, mannitol) (200) Fasting (46); diabetic ketoacidosis (32); NH<sub>4</sub>Cl administration (112) Mineralocorticoids<sup>d</sup> (143, 148) Hyperthyroidism (96) Decreased excretion Hypomagnesemia (21, 149, 169, 182) Parathyroid hormone (89, 150) Hypocalcemia (148) Alkalosis (199) Hypothyroidism (129) Contracted extracellular fluid volume (149)

Antidiuretic hormone (167) Calcitonin (148, 167) Glucagon (17)

K+,Mg2+-sparing diuretics (161)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Reproduced with modification from Ref. 172, pp 164 and 165, with permission.

bWhen associated with magnesium infusion/injection.

Secondary to hypercalcemia; transient negative balance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>Secondary to increased extracellular fluid volume.

late 1960s, with consequent improvement in ease and accuracy of magnesium determinations.

Balance studies have included observations on the possible influences of types of protein and amounts of proteins, fiber, calcium, and phosphate. The reports of effects on magnesium balances are often contradictory (110, 172, 177, 178, 180)

Serum magnesium levels were determined by atomic absorption spectrophotometry on a US population sample of 15,820 persons in the age range 1–74 years who were examined between 1971 and 1974 in the NHANES 1 survey (120). Ninety-five percent of adults aged 18–74 were in the range 1.50–1.91 meq/L. Younger individuals tended to have higher values. The levels of the fifth percentile were still at or above the lower levels of normal generally used in clinical laboratories (i.e. 1.40–1.45 meq/L). In this author's opinion, serum magnesium levels in healthy individuals are a good index of magnesium nutriture; hence, these data indicate that hypomagnesemia in the US population at that time was, and presumably still is, very uncommon from childhood to older age.

There is some question as to the reliability of the current RDA for magnesium, which are based on human milk content, consumption data, and older balance studies (60). They include 40 to 70 mg per day for infants, rising to 250 mg for children at 10 years. Recommendations for adolescent and adult males and for nonpregnant and nonlactating females fall in the range of 300 to 400 mg (5–6 mg/kg and 14–15 mg/100 kcal of recommended energy intake) with an additional 150 mg for pregnancy and lactation.

The currently "suppressed" 1985 report of The National Research Council-Food and Nutrition Board Committee on the RDA tentatively recommended that the RDA for magnesium be made "provisional"; most of the 1980 figures were retained with this proviso, but allowances for infants were reduced (i.e. to 30-50 mg/day and the additional amounts for pregnancy and lactation to 20 and 60 mg/day, respectively) (M. L. Brown, personal communication). A recent statement of the Food and Nutrition Board NRC/NAS posed these questions: "Since few studies have been devoted exclusively to magnesium requirements and the reliability of many of the resultant data is questionable, should there be an RDA or should only a provisional intake be established for magnesium?" and "Since there is no apparent evidence of magnesium deficiency in the general population, are data on the magnesium content of the average diet reliable enough to justify lowering the RDA?" (61). There is an obvious need for more quantitative data on the needs of various age groups using adequate analytic and more precise and prolonged balance techniques under strictly controlled conditions and, ideally, in conjunction with tissue biopsy analyses.

It is emphasized that the RDA are likely to be inadequate for those individuals with serious intestinal and renal absorptive defects and patients with serious hypercatabolic disease who are being nutritionally repleted. Analyses of serum levels, preferably with data on stool and urine magnesium losses, are needed to permit adequate replacement.

### MAGNESIUM DEFICIENCY

Although the most studied, the rat is not representative of other species with respect to certain deficiency signs, e.g. the hyperemia, repetitive (and usually acutely fatal) tonic-clonic convulsions, and its peculiar serum calcium and parathyroid hormone changes. Mice on the same diet developed no hyperemia, became hypocalcemic, and often died with a single abrupt and massive convulsion (4). Deficient dogs and monkeys, also on diets of the same composition, developed spasticity, tremors, and occasionally nonfatal convulsions with hypocalcemia; increasing the oral calcium in the diet did not increase the serum calcium or prevent the neuromuscular changes (171).

### Magnesium Deficiency in Humans

Symptomatic clinical human deficiency usually develops in a setting of predisposing and complicating disease states (Table 1) that often reduce intestinal absorption or are associated with impaired renal reabsorption (Table 2). Decreased intake or failure to provide adequate amounts of magnesium in parenteral or enteral preparations may be a complicating factor.

Four groups of investigators have re-EXPERIMENTAL HUMAN STUDIES corded their efforts to induce magnesium deficiency experimentally in human volunteers (21, 40, 55, 169). In the one study in which symptomatic depletion occurred, the experimental diet provided about 0.8 meg of magnesium per day (169). Plasma magnesium fell progressively to levels that were 10-30% those of control periods. Erythrocyte magnesium declined more slowly and to a lesser degree. Urine and fecal magnesium decreased to extremely low levels within seven days. Hypomagnesemia, hypocalcemia, and hypokalemia were present in all of the consistently symptomatic patients. Good intestinal calcium absorption was associated with hypocalciuria so that the patients were in positive calcium balance. Serum phosphate values varied among the subjects. Most deficient subjects developed hypokalemia with negative potassium balance as the result of increased urinary losses. Serum sodium remained normal and the subjects were in positive sodium balance. Neuromuscular signs (positive Trousseau signs, tremors, fasciculations, and gross muscle spasm) occurred in five of the seven subjects after deficiency periods ranging from 25 to 110 days. Marked personality changes occurred in several patients.

All symptoms and signs (including personality changes) reverted to normal with reinstitution of magnesium. A characteristic finding (which has been repeatedly confirmed in cases of clinical magnesium depletion) was the delayed rise in serum calcium despite the rapid return to normal of serum magnesium upon magnesium repletion; a week or even longer intervened before calcium returned to baseline levels. Potassium balances became strongly positive as sodium balances became negative. The return of serum potassium to normal also required some days.

The signs and symptoms noted above in experimental deficiency have been described separately or in various combinations in clinical cases of hypomagnesemia. They included Trousseau and Chvostek signs, muscle fasciculations, tremor, muscle spasm, personality changes, anorexia, nausea, and vomiting. Frank tetany, myoclonic jerks, athetoid movements, convulsions, and coma have been reported. Convulsions with or without coma seem to occur much more frequently in acutely deficient infants than in adults.

CLINICAL DEFICIENCY The closest related condition to "pure" experimental human magnesium deficiency is an uncommon congenital primary hypomagnesemia occurring with a male: female ratio of about 2.5:1 (67, 182, 201) and related to a specific defect in intestinal absorption of this ion as mentioned above (27). Hypomagnesemia, hypomagnesuria, and hypocalcemia with tetany and often with convulsions were corrected with magnesium supplements. Calcium and vitamin D supplements were ineffective in maintaining normocalcemia. Serum potassium was low and sodium and phosphate elevated (182). During relatively short periods of depletion under controlled conditions in three subjects, serum immunoparathyroid hormone, calcitonin, and 25-OH vitamin D remained normal despite the hypomagnesemia (182).

ELECTROLYTE CHANGES IN BLOOD AND TISSUES Findings on serum/plasma calcium levels in various species from various laboratories have been summarized (170). In contrast to the rat, hypocalcemia occurred consistently in mice, dogs, monkeys, and human volunteers on the same magnesium-deficient diet providing 140 mg% of calcium (171).

Serum potassium In the two experimental human deficiency studies in which hypomagnesemia was observed, hypokalemia also occurred (48, 169). Teenagers with familial hypomagnesemia had low potassium levels (182). Hypokalemia has frequently been reported in adult clinical magnesium deficiency of various etiologies (59, 68, 98, 131, 191, 192) as well as in deficient malnourished children (15, 141).

Serum phosphate During experimental human depletion, the level of serum inorganic phosphate was variable, ranging from slightly elevated to low; following treatment with magnesium, three of the six patients had an abrupt fall in phosphate (169). Children with familial hypomagnesemia often have elevated serum phosphate; two of three such patients had a "spontaneous" fall in phosphate following repletion (182).

BONE METABOLISM A major proportion of magnesium in bone is complexed in the apatite crystal. Alfrey et al (6) noted that the surface-limited magnesium bone pool was rapidly utilized to replace other tissue deficits during deficiency. In contrast to muscle magnesium, that present in bone correlated well with serum magnesium in normal, depleted, and overloaded laboratory animals and human subjects (5).

# Comparison of Human Experimental and Clinical Magnesium Depletion

THE VARIABILITY OF MAGNESIUM AND OTHER ELECTROLYTE CHANGES There are contradictory reports concerning the serum, muscle, and bone levels of magnesium in sick patients who were claimed to be magnesium deficient. The numbers of patients studied in most reports are small. The findings include (a) decreased serum and muscle magnesium with normal bone level (123); (b) decreased serum, variable muscle, and low bone magnesium levels (27); (c) normal serum and erythrocyte magnesium levels with decreased muscle magnesium and potassium (137); (d) reduced serum level with normal muscle content (140); (e) normal serum, erythrocyte, and bone magnesium levels with reduced muscle magnesium and variable muscle potassium (117); (f) consistently reduced serum concentrations with variable muscle levels (181); and (g) low serum magnesium with variable muscle magnesium concentration but with a highly significant correlation between serum and bone magnesium levels (5).

During magnesium deficiency, muscle magnesium may vary directly with muscle potassium in humans (5, 18, 59, 98). Conversely, the development of potassium depletion with depressed muscle potassium is associated with decreased muscle magnesium in humans (5, 7, 18, 98).

The bewildering variations noted in ill patients with respect to their blood and tissue magnesium and other electrolytes emphasize the difficulty in ascribing cause and effect to a specific nutrient deficiency in uncontrolled clinical situations. Normal cellular metabolism and the homeostasis of cellular components are critically dependent on an adequate supply of energy and the many essential nutrients. Significant deficiency of one or more can affect retention of other nutrients as noted above, e.g. magnesium deficiency depletes potassium while potassium depletion reduces the magnesium content of cells.

Starvation in obese subjects caused protein catabolism, acidosis and loss of cellular constituents including magnesium even though serum magnesium remained normal or nearly normal (46). Magnesium was lost from tissue by depletion of lean body mass and by an additional renal loss that appeared to be related, in good part, to the degree of acidosis. Muscle magnesium decreased; in addition the electrolyte excretion patterns indicated that very significant amounts came from bone. The serum magnesium was well maintained, presumably by a fairly constant input of magnesium into the blood from tissues.

This pattern of a normal or only slightly depressed serum magnesium despite major tissue losses undoubtedly occurs in illnesses where there is negative nitrogen balance with acidosis in patients who have depressed glomerular filtration either on a pre-renal (hypotension or hypovolemia) or on a renal basis. Such a situation could explain a number of case reports with the findings of normal or nearly normal serum levels despite depleted muscle levels. The same dichotomy between levels of serum and tissue magnesium could occur if potassium depletion rather than magnesium deficiency was the primary deficiency. These associated clinical complications would help explain the apparent contradiction between the consistent occurrence of progressive hypomagnesemia in experimental magnesium deficiency in humans and in experimental animals and those case reports in which the expected hallmarks of magnesium deficiency were not present. Such findings have led to the not uncommon claim that serum magnesium level is not a useful index of magnesium deficiency. In the complicated circumstances just noted this may be correct. However, diagnosis of magnesium depletion based on the magnesium concentration in a tissue or in separated cells, e.g. erythrocytes or white cells, may also be misleading because of the presence of other deficiencies that etiologically may be more important in affecting magnesium status. This author recommends that reports of cases believed to have magnesium deficiency should include sufficient clinical and biochemical data to permit better evaluation of whether the observed alterations (or lack of changes) in magnesium levels in tissue and serum reflect a primary or a secondary cause.

# Physiological and Biochemical Correlates of Magnesium Depletion

The first reported magnesium-depleted patient with immunoparathyroid hormone assays had a genetically induced hypomagnesemia with undetectable immunoparathyroid hormone (12). Immunoparathyroid hormone levels rose markedly with magnesium administration and this was followed by a good calcemic response, which indicates that magnesium depletion was associated with a failure of the parathyroid gland either to manufacture or to secrete the

hormone. Over the next few years, as more cases with immunoparathyroid hormone measurements were reported, it became apparent that the relationships were more complex.

SEQUENCE OF THE EFFECTS OF MAGNESIUM DEFICIENCY AND REPLETION IN MAN

- 1. Initiation of hypocalcemia The initiating factor appears to be failure of the normal heterionic exchange of bone calcium for magnesium at the labile bone mineral surface (94, 145). Impairment of receptor responsiveness to parathyroid hormone of the osteoclasts then occurs with reduction of active bone resorption (64); hypocalcemia progresses despite increased levels of circulating parathyroid hormone (159).
- 2. Perpetuation of electrolyte, parathyroid hormone, and clinical abnormalities As depletion progresses, secretion of parathyroid hormone diminishes to very low levels despite adequate intraparathyroid gland hormonal reserves (13, 159). The hallmarks of severe magnesium depletion are present at this stage; namely, very low levels of circulating parathyroid hormone, unresponsive bone, hypocalcemia, hypocalciuria, hypokalemia, sodium retention, and neuromuscular and other clinical signs and symptoms (169).
- 3. Regression of magnesium depletion and associated changes With magnesium administration in adequate amount, serum magnesium rises. Magnesium ions enter the hydration shell of bone in increased amount, which permits heterionic calcium exchange to begin. This early exchange may explain the rapid improvement that occurs subjectively and some of the decrease in neuromuscular signs with little or no detectable change in circulating calcium. Depending on the amounts and intervals at which magnesium is given and its associated rise in serum (and presumably cellular magnesium), there is an increase in parathyroid hormone. With rapid infusion of relatively large amounts of magnesium, both the serum magnesium and hormone levels (particularly the latter) may be very high within a minute or so (13, 159). During this repletion interval, receptors to parathyroid hormone on the osteoclasts renew their responsiveness. As end-organ resistance recedes and parathyroid hormone levels remain elevated, serum calcium rises. normalization of serum calcium, the hormone level declines appropriately. Electrolyte abnormalities recede, and clinical signs and symptoms disappear.

VITAMIN D LEVELS AND RESISTANCE IN MAGNESIUM DEFICI-ENCY Following original reports in rats (116), there have been a series of clinical cases suggesting that the calcemic effect of vitamin D—often in high doses—is blunted in the presence of magnesium depletion in rickets (154), malabsorption (132, 146), and idiopathic (157) or surgically induced hypoparathyroidism (70). Parathyroid hormone is necessary for the formation of calcitriol (185) and calcitriol is necessary for parathyroid hormone to exert its effect on calcium mobilization from bone (66). A possible mechanism for vitamin D resistance is the lack of circulating parathyroid hormone in severe magnesium deficiency, with consequent depressed calcitriol synthesis. A patient who was surgically thyroparathyroidectomized and who became magnesium depleted was found to be resistant to calcitriol until repleted with magnesium, after which there was a good calcemic response (70). Circulating calcitriol has been variably reported to be decreased (65, 158), normal (152), or increased (93) in patients with magnesium deficiency. Despite low levels of calcitriol in the majority of reported cases, serum calcium rose after magnesium repletion (65, 158). Normal calcitriol levels are apparently unnecessary for the parathyroid-hormone-mediated response to magnesium. It also appears that resistance to vitamin D in magnesium deficiency, at least in the rat (36), is likely caused by impaired skeletal responsiveness to calcitriol. The cause in humans remains unknown.

CITRATE LEVELS As had been noted earlier in magnesium-deficient rats (24), patients who were either chronically depleted of magnesium as the result of intestinal malabsorption or acutely depleted by minimizing the magnesium content of their total parenteral nutrition solutions had a markedly decreased content of citrate in their urine. This was secondary to increased renal tubular citrate reabsorption (160).

# MAGNESIUM DEPLETION IN VARIOUS DISEASE STATES

### Prevalence

The list of causes of magnesium depletion (Table 1) emphasizes that this condition is likely to be found rather commonly in acutely or chronically ill patients. This is supported by various surveys. Of 2300 patients in a Veterans Administration hospital, 6.9% were hypomagnesemic (192); another study found 11% to have hypomagnesemia (196). The incidence of hypomagnesemia was investigated when other electrolytes were found to be below normal (192); hypomagnesemia occurred in 42% of patients with hypokalemia, 29% of those with hypophosphatemia, 23% of those with hypophosphatemia, and 22% of those with hypocalcemia. The distribution of the depressed values in the population was not given. In a retrospective study of 421 hospitalized patients in whom plasma magnesium and potassium had been measured concurrently, the incidence of hypokalemia was found to be 12%

while that of hypomagnesemia was 26% (28). Hypomagnesemia was present in 38% of the hypokalemic samples; hypomagnesemia was present in 25% of normokalemic samples. In 94 consecutive admissions to a medical intensive care unit, 65% of patients with a serum creatinine of  $\leq 1.1$  mg/dl were hypomagnesemic; of these, one third had hypocalcemia corrected with magnesium supplementation (162). In a study of 111 consecutive serum samples from hypocalcemic patients, 36 (32%) had serum magnesium  $\leq 1.2$  meq/L (103). These data suggest that magnesium determinations should be performed routinely on initial examination of acutely or chronically ill patients, especially those with poor food intake, malabsorption, hypokalemia, and/or hypocalcemia or those receiving diuretics or nephrotoxic agents.

### Alcoholism

Magnesium depletion in acute and chronic alcoholism has been documented over many years. Causes include poor intake, increased urinary losses, vomiting, diarrhea, and ketosis (57, 59, 184). Thirty percent of all alcoholics and 86% of those with delirium tremens had hypomagnesemia during the first 24–48 hours after admission to a hospital (184).

#### Diabetes

Losses of magnesium in diabetic ketoacidosis have been appreciated for many years (32, 128). A significant negative correlation was noted between serum/plasma magnesium and blood glycohemoglobin in insulin-dependent pregnant women, with significant relationships to the rates of spontaneous abortion and malformation (136). Similar negative correlations were noted between serum (63) or plasma and muscle (173) magnesium and glycohemoglobin in insulin-dependent type I diabetics. Thirty-seven percent of infants born to diabetic mothers were found to be hypomagnesemic during the first three days of life; the degree of decline was related to the severity of maternal diabetes and prematurity (188). Children with insulin-dependent type 1 diabetes tended to have lower serum magnesium values than did nondiabetic controls (54, 63). Iron, copper, and zinc values were similar to those of controls (54). Serum magnesium levels increased significantly with improved diabetes control (63).

# Malabsorption

Serum magnesium is often subnormal in patients with malabsorption syndromes of various etiologies (Table 1) (27, 124, 156, 168, 169). Increased amounts of fatty acids in the intestinal lumen form insoluble soaps with Mg<sup>2+</sup>; this leads to loss from both dietary and endogenous sources. This well-established finding has been reconfirmed in malnourished adolescents with Crohn's disease given nutritional supplementation that further increased

the fecal magnesium level but not the levels of nitrogen and calcium (139). Restriction of fat can play a role in managing magnesium-losing steatorrhea (27).

# Protein-Energy Malnutrition

Magnesium depletion occurs in children with inadequate intake in association with malabsorption, persistent vomiting and/or diarrhea, and infection. Serum or plasma magnesium was noted to be low in various studies in Africa, i.e. in 19 of 28 children (33), in 39 of 100 (156), and in 10 of 13 having serum values below the lower limit of normal and all having very low urinary magnesium (119). In a study in Central America 50% of serum magnesium values were below 1.3 meq/L on admission to treatment and during recovery in unsupplemented children, and an equal percentage had low muscle magnesium (141). Some children had elevated serum and muscle magnesium; it was speculated that these were related to reduced renal function, which was known to occur.

# Kidney Disease and Nephrotoxic Drugs

A number of factors may modify adversely the critical role of the kidney in magnesium homeostasis (Table 2). When impaired glomerular filtration or tubular obstruction are significant, hypermagnesemia is usual. Nevertheless, magnesium depletion can occur in chronic renal failure because of concomitant poor intake and muscle wasting or losses associated with vomiting, diarrhea, malabsorption, diuretics, nephrotoxic drugs, acidosis, and/or use of magnesium-free dialysate (102, 118, 133, 135, 147). Increased excretion is associated with postobstructive nephropathy, chronic glomerulonephritis, acute tubulointerstitial nephritis, post renal transplantation, and familial urinary magnesium-wasting syndromes (78, 203). While hypomagnesemia may occur, it is not a common finding in Bartter's syndrome (20) or a related syndrome (72, 73); however, there is a sparing effect of magnesium on renal losses of potassium (16, 72, 73, 122).

Some drugs of importance in clinical practice may significantly impair renal conservation of magnesium (Table 2). Cisplatin is of particular concern in that it affects a large proportion (144) or all (23) of recipients to the point of hypomagnesemia caused by renal wasting. The tubular defect may occur shortly after initiating the drug and may persist for months or even years after its discontinuation.

The risk of stone formation and nephrocalcinosis in magnesium-depleted rats is well documented. It is quite possible that long-term unrecognized chronic magnesium depletion in humans with a good calcium intake could lead to soft tissue calcification. There is a more frequent risk associated with the hypocitraturia that occurs within a matter of days in magnesium-depleted

patients (160). Since both citrate and magnesium tend to keep calcium from precipitating in urine, the value of maintaining adequate urine concentrations of both is obvious.

# Post-Parathyroidectomy Hypomagnesemia

Cases have been described of symptomatic hypomagnesemia following parathyroidectomy for primary hyperparathyroidism in association with the expected hypocalcemia. Symptoms of muscle weakness, tremor, and mental changes were reversed by magnesium repletion despite continuing low calcium levels (e.g. 97). This appears to be a manifestation of the "hungry bone" syndrome following removal of the parathyroid adenoma in which not only calcium but also magnesium are deposited into bone at a rate exceeding absorption.

# Antiepileptic Drugs

Earlier claims have been made that serum magnesium levels are lower than controls in epileptic patients treated with antiepileptic medications (38). More recent evidence, however, indicates that epileptic patients on such drugs, e.g. diphenylhydantoin (202) with or without phenothiazines, had serum (202) or cerebrospinal fluid (79) magnesium levels similar to those of matched untreated controls.

# MAGNESIUM ALTERATIONS AND POSSIBLE DISEASE DEVELOPMENT

### Cardiac Abnormalities

CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE It has been suggested that there is an inverse relation between magnesium intake and coronary artery disease and its sequelae (9, 128, 166). The prevalence, morbidity, and mortality of this disease are such that these claims merit brief examination here.

Role of water hardness Some epidemiologic reports have noted decreased prevalence of deaths from coronary artery disease in areas where the water is "hard" (i.e. higher in calcium, magnesium, and fluoride than is "soft" water) (14, 41, 121). Marier (126) has summarized data on the contents and ratios of calcium and magnesium and has noted the wide variations encountered. It was noted in a relatively small case control study that "very low fluoride and perhaps magnesium intakes are associated with an increased risk of atherosclerosis"; however, the variability of intake was so great among cases of myocardial infarction and controls that the mean intakes were not significantly different (121). A study in England and Wales found no association between the myocardial concentration of magnesium or calcium and their

levels in domestic tap water (53). Hammer & Heyden (74) summarized briefly a series of studies that failed to implicate a causal relation between water hardness and heart disease, particularly cardiovascular disease mortality. More recently, Leoni et al (113) recorded negative correlations for cardiovascular diseases and water hardness in 11 Italian locales during the period 1968–1978. Hence, there is no consensus regarding the role of hard water as a factor in modifying coronary artery disease prevalence.

Magnesium intake and myocardial mortality The intake of magnesium in the US is stated to have declined from earlier in the century (188a); at the same time there has been a major decline in age-adjusted death rate from ischemic heart disease in the US (75). These data imply that a modest decrease in the level of intake of magnesium is not likely to play a causative role in the manifestation of this disease.

Serum values of magnesium in acute myocardial infarction The data in older reports are conflicting, but the majority noted that the patients had decreased serum or plasma values "soon after" or "upon admission" to the hospital. More recent data cast doubt on this claim and emphasize that the time of drawing blood is critical. Magnesium values in the patients with acute myocardial infarction on day 1 were significantly less than controls (1, 49, 125, 153) but only when there were complications (with a return to normal by day 3) (153) or severe coronary artery disease detected by angiography (125). Patients in a coronary care unit with or without infarction had similar magnesium values (49). Following coronary artery surgery, there was a similar and significant decline postoperatively in the levels of serum magnesium in those patients suffering acute infarction and in those without infarction (62).

Speich et al (176) noted that in intensive care unit patients with acute myocardial infarction, plasma magnesium rose significantly by the third day; erythrocyte magnesium rose more slowly, as did plasma and erythrocyte zinc. The initial plasma values obtained within three hours of pain onset in the infarcted males were not significantly different from those of control males. There were significant positive correlations between plasma or erythrocyte magnesium and creatine kinase isoenzyme MB as an indicator of infarct size; this suggested that magnesium left the heart at the time of the infarction and entered the extracellular compartment in proportion to cardiac enzyme activities (174). Data from patients with unstable angina on admission suggested that hypoxia without significant necrosis also caused magnesium to leave cardiac muscle (174). This is consistent with a prior finding of a larger decrease in myocardial magnesium in men with a prior history of angina who died suddenly of heart disease as compared to those without prior angina (95).

In only two of these reports (49, 125) was there any mention of medications

being used by the patients prior to the studies. The serum magnesium levels were significantly lower in the patients on either digitalis drugs or diuretics (125). A significant proportion of coronary care unit patients with or without infarction were on either digitalis or diuretic drugs (49).

Lipolysis occurs soon after the onset of symptoms of acute myocardial infarction; similar changes have been noted with ethanol withdrawal, epinephrine administration, surgery, cold stress, and severe exercise (58). Flink et al (58) found a mean rise of free fatty acids to about three times baseline in 16 patients shortly after infarction, and this was associated with a decrease in magnesium level of 0.22 meq/L (58). The rapid fall in free fatty acids in the ensuing 48–72 hours was associated with a rise in serum magnesium to normal levels in 48 hours. It was suggested that free fatty acids bind magnesium ions; this binding may result in decreased free Mg<sup>2+</sup> concentration, especially in patients depleted of magnesium by poor intake or diuretic treatments.

No association has been noted between the levels of serum magnesium and the presence or absence of clinically apparent chronic coronary artery disease (3). On the other hand, there is some reduction—small but significant—in noncardiac patients with painful conditions requiring acute surgery or in medical patients with painful noncardiac diseases or in women in labor. Patients with surgical, medical, or obstetrical conditions without pain had normal magnesium levels (2).

Magnesium content of the myocardium There are a moderate number of reports from 1950 to 1980 reporting decreased magnesium in the myocardium of patients dying with ischemic heart disease (cf 126, 166). More recent data indicate the complexity of magnesium distribution in the heart (175). In human hearts obtained at necropsy, the left ventricle from individuals without infarction who died following acute trauma had approximately 11% more magnesium than in the right ventricle. These subjects served as controls. Both ventricles (noninfarcted areas) from patients dying of acute myocardial infarction had 20–28% less magnesium than in the control ventricles; magnesium in the infarcted areas of left ventricles was only one half that in controls. Potassium, calcium, and sodium concentrations were also lower in the noninfarcted portions of the heart compared to those of controls. As the result of cytolysis and anoxia in the infarcted areas, the Mg/Ca ratios were significantly inverted and the K/Na ratios very significantly smaller. No data was given about the medication history of the patients with infarction.

The cause(s) and significance of the decreased magnesium content in ischemic hearts are not clear since there are many complicating factors and such information is not included in most of the published reports. These complicating factors include duration of the heart disease, prior medications

and dietary therapies, elapsed time between the infarction, death and tissue sampling, areas of sampling, and variability in sampling. What the reported changes in magnesium content have to do with the state of magnesium nutrition (if anything) is uncertain.

There has been increasing attention CARDIAC ARRHYTHMIAS AND SPASMS to the relationships of depletion of magnesium and other electrolytes, particularly potassium, as factors contributing to the development of coronary artery spasm and of various arrythmias and associated increased cardiac morbidity and mortality. Salts of magnesium have been used empirically on occasion for some 50 years in the treatment of various tachyarrythmias occurring with ischemia, digitalis toxicity, and diuretic therapy (52a). In 1966 it was found that magnesium-deficient monkeys and dogs had increased susceptibility to serious arrythmias when given acetylstrophanthidin (104). The relation of hypokalemia and clinical arrhythmias has been known since 1949 (80). Increasing understanding of the close physiologic, biochemical, and clinical interrelations of magnesium and potassium as well as of calcium and sodium have made it apparent that either magnesium or potassium depletion can influence the serum and cellular concentrations of the other and that certain drugs can adversely affect serum and tissue concentration of each. The frequency of hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia in hospitalized patients has been noted earlier.

The rationale for intervention has been based on physiologic considerations of changes in electrolyte concentrations (including magnesium); of membrane interactions involving potassium, magnesium, sodium, and calcium; and of calcium-magnesium antagonism (92, 115). It has been postulated that the beneficial effects of magnesium reside in its action as a calcium blocker and that magnesium depletion leads to loss of cellular potassium and to an increase in calcium, failure of membrane Ca-ATPase to extrude calcium from the cell, and influx of calcium into mitochondria (92). Recent evidence indicates that addition of Mg<sup>2+</sup> in physiologic amounts to isolated ventricular (189) or atrial (87) cells very rapidly blocks K<sup>+</sup> channels, which causes inward rectification. This role of Mg<sup>2+</sup> ensures a low conductance of cell membranes at the plateau of action potentials during exposure to acetylcholine, which thereby slows heart rate without unfavorable shortening of the action potential.

Hypokalemia in patients with acute myocardial infarction is associated with increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias (99, 142). Hypokalemia was noted in 17% of patients, whereas hypomagnesemia occurred in 6%. Ventricular arrhythmias occurred in 10 of 13 patients with infarction who were hypomagnesemic; 8 of these were also hypokalemic. Patients with infarction were twice as likely to be hypokalemic on admission (22 vs 10%) if they had been

on prior diuretics. The occurrence of serious arrhythmias was more common in those with hypokalemia. Mean plasma concentrations of both potassium and magnesium were lower in diuretic-treated patients than in a nontreated control group (28). Hypomagnesemia was identified in a significant percentage of hypokalemic patients (52). The incidence of serious ventricular ectopic beats, ventricular tachycardia, and ventricular fibrillation on admission of patients to the coronary care unit was higher in hypomagnesemic patients with acute myocardial infarction, as was atrial fibrillation and supraventricular tachycardia. On the other hand, atrioventricular block and supraventricular bradycardia were higher in the hypermagnesemic patients (49). In a series of 136 serum samples sent to the laboratory for digitalis estimation, hyponatremia was found in 21%, hypomagnesemia in 19%, and hypokalemia in 9% (193).

Hollifield (86) measured serum potassium and magnesium in patients with mild to moderate hypertension given increasing amounts of hydrochlorothiazide up to 50 mg/day. The levels of both ions were lower than those of controls but were within normal levels; both decreased progressively to subnormal levels at 100 mg/day and higher (86). Exercise was associated with premature ventricular contractions in patients on hydrochlorothiazide; this correlated highly with decreased serum potassium and magnesium. Clinically stable hypertensives eating well on long-term and usual doses of thiazide diuretics (50 mg/day or less) had only slightly lower serum magnesium levels on the average than controls, and low levels were rare (109).

An increase in sudden death was noted in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial in a subgroup of patients with baseline electrocardiographic abnormalities who were part of the special intervention group of hypertensives who received a higher dose of diuretics and developed a greater degree of hypokalemia. The hypokalemia was not uniformly corrected at the time the study was initiated since it was not believed to lead to ventricular ectopic activity in hypertensive patients without overt cardiac disease (168). More recent studies provided evidence that such a view was not correct (34, 83, 90).

A series of recent symposia have been concerned with electrolyte changes and cardiovascular mobidity and mortality (26, 84, 85). Since hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia can be induced by the same mechanisms and are often clinically correlated with one another, magnesium as well as potassium should be routinely measured in situations, such as diuretic therapy, where they may occur (194). Electrolyte balance should be maintained by either supplementation or more appropriately by the choice of diuretic agents in patients with cardiac disorders that do not induce hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia (e.g. combining thiazides with triamterene or amiloride.

Should magnesium therapy be given to eumagnesemic patients with ar-

rhythmias? Several short-term studies (12–18 hours) suggest a decrease in arrhythmias with such therapy (50, 91).

Coronary artery tone In recent years interest and concern have been stimulated by reports of increased coronary artery tone in vitro (i.e. "spasms") in magnesium-depleted solutions and by the hypothesis of a possible relationship to sudden death in ischemic heart disease (10). A reciprocal relationship has been suggested between calcium and magnesium ions in the modulation of vascular smooth muscle reactivity (8). Others have found that the concentration of Mg<sup>2+</sup> in the in vitro bath must be very low to induce even a moderate increase in smooth muscle tone (100); the dilator effect of an 8-fold increase in cerebrospinal fluid magnesium (1.2 to 9.6 meg/liter) was modest (164).

Recent data on the relationship of magnesium depletion in the bath fluid of isolated coronary artery rings emphasize the complexity of the role of magnesium and its intimate relationship with other ions. An endothelium-dependent relaxation was reported to require magnesium ions, i.e. lack of magnesium was associated with constriction upon exposure to acetylcholine (11). Using a similar technique, others have found that omission of magnesium produced a potent vasorelaxant response when the arterial endothelium was intact but a vasoconstriction when the endothelium was disrupted (108). The relaxation associated with omission of magnesium was completely abolished by lowering the extracellular calcium levels, presumably by inhibition of the Na<sup>+</sup>/ Ca<sup>2+</sup> exchange mechanism in endothelial cells. The vasoconstriction, on the other hand, appears to be related to a reciprocal increase in calcium influx into smooth muscle cells, possibly via the calcium slow channel (108). In both these studies, magnesium was either present or absent from the bath so that no data are available on minimum concentrations required for normal responses. The relation of these observations to the reactions of intact and damaged human coronary arteries to decreased magnesium is unknown.

Magnesium in cardioplegic solutions Cardioplegic solutions are designed to induce rapid diastolic ischemic arrest, minimize the extent of ischemic injury, and prevent myocardial damage during reperfusion after aortocoronary bypass. A high magnesium content in cardioplegic potassium solutions was effective with rat hearts but not with rabbit hearts and perhaps not with other species (25). In a prospective randomized study of 76 patients undergoing coronary bypass grafting with varying concentrations of magnesium (zero or 0.25 meq/L) in the solution during bypass with the aorta clamped or with 0.375 meq/L before bypass, magnesium administration did not affect resumption of a cardiac rhythm or spontaneous defibrillation during reperfusion (77). The number of shocks to initial and to sustained defibrillation and the energy required for the last direct-current shock were greatest in the patients who

received magnesium before bypass and in those whose plasma magnesium was greater than 2.26 mg/dl (1.88 meq/L).

# Hypertension

Older studies have noted lower mean serum magnesium levels in hypertensives as compared to normals (e.g. 1.4 vs 1.6 meq/L) (3a) or lower values in hypertensive men but not women (21a). In an intervention study, hypertensive patients on diuretic therapy were given 365 mg of magnesium as the aspartate-HCl. They showed a subsequent drop in blood pressure over six months with no change in plasma magnesium or other electrolytes (51). In a limited number of reports on magnesium intake in relation to the presence of hypertension, one indicated no difference from normotensives (187) and another lower intake by hypertensives (130).

Serum ionized calcium, total magnesium, and plasma renin activity were determined in 102 normotensive patients and 98 patients with essential hypertension (off medications for at least two weeks) and with essentially normal serum urea nitrogen and creatinine values (155). Patients with lowrenin hypertension had serum magnesium levels of 2.07  $\pm$  0.03 meq/L, those with normal renin had  $1.94 \pm 0.02$  meg/L, and those with high renin had 1.83± .02 meg/L. Each group was significantly different fron the others, and the high- and low-renin groups differed significantly from the normotensive group, which had a magnesium value of 1.91 ± meq/L. Opposite relations were noted for serum ionized calcium in these patients. The range of variability within all groups covered essentially the normal clinical range. The physiologic and biochemical relevance of these relatively small but apparently statistically significant changes is still unclear but may be related to changes in intracellular Ca2+, which could act by affecting renin, parathyroid hormone secretion, and vascular tone. The importance of monitoring serum magnesium and potassium in hypertensive patients on electrolyte-wasting diuretics has been emphasized.

### MAGNESIUM REPLETION

The physician should anticipate hypomagnesemia in relevant clinical situations and institute therapeutic regimens to prevent its occurrence. Such preventive measures include (a) treating underlying disease, (b) minimizing therapeutic insult, and (c) initiating nutritional and dietary intervention to improve intake and to decrease magnesium losses in stool and urine.

When the patient presents for the first time with hypomagnesemia, the etiology should be determined. If the cause is uncertain, measurement on the same day of serum and urine magnesium levels is indicated. If the serum magnesium is consistently subnormal (i.e.  $< 1.2 \,\mathrm{meq/L}$ ), the normal kidney

will excrete only small amounts of magnesium (i.e. < 2 meq per day). If renal tubular insufficiency is present, urinary magnesium will be appreciably higher—to the point where it may equal or exceed the magnesium absorbed from the intestine or that given parenterally.

The amount and route of magnesium administration depends upon the severity of depletion, its etiology, and intestinal and kidney functions. Symptomatic deficiency is best treated by the intravenous or intramuscular route in conjunction with any indicated therapy for the underlying condition and with correction of other electrolyte and acid-base abnormalities. Initiate treatment in symptomatic adolescents and adults with good renal function with 3 g (25 meq) of 50% magnesium sulfate given intravenously over 2 or 3 hours in saline or dextrose solutions with other nutrients as required. Another 3–4 g are then given by continuous infusion over the remaining 24 hours or by periodic intramuscular injections. This administration is given daily for several more days and the situation reassessed. For the asymptomatic patient with very low serum levels (i.e. ≤ 0.06–0.8 meq/L) the dosage prescribed above is indicated; when the serum level is higher, half the dosage parenterally or orally should be sufficient unless renal losses are very high.

Intravenous calcium administration in the treatment of the secondary hypocalcemia is usually unnecessary unless overt or latent tetany is apparent.

The return of serum magnesium to the normal range is relatively rapid. Repletion of magnesium lost from bone and other tissues requires a more prolonged period of magnesium therapy; the need is evaluated by periodic serum and/or urine magensium levels as the magnesium dosage is progressively reduced.

Where indicated and feasible, supplementary magnesium may be given as tablets of milk of magnesia (MgO) or as gelatin capsules packed with powdered magnesium sulfate (Epsom salts), magnesium chloride, or magnesium oxide. One tablet or capsule is given 3 to 6 times per day. Improvement of existing steatorrhea will decrease fecal magnesium losses.

The need for prolonged magnesium therapy that cannot be met adequately by increased oral intake presents a practical problem. Intramuscular injection of magnesium salts is painful and when given chronically often induces a fibrotic reaction. The alternative is intravenous infusion or the old-fashioned but useful hypodermic clysis. In the latter procedure a dilute solution of 50% magnesium sulfate (e.g. 2–3g in 150 ml of 0.45% saline) is infused slowly over 3 to 4 hours through a small needle inserted under the skin over the abdomen as frequently as is necessary. The intravenous route may be through a peripheral line, percutaneous catheter into the subclavian vein, or for very prolonged infusion, via a tunneled central venous catheter. The daily requirement for magnesium (and any other electrolytes that are needed) may be given intravenously in a matter of 3 to 4 hours daily or less frequently at home.

Alternative programs of magnesium replacement in deficient adults have been utilized, usually with higher doses than advocated here. Flink (56), for example, has recommended 112 to 128 meq intramuscularly or intravenously over the first day, with smaller doses subsequently.

Experience in the treatment of symptomatic magnesium depletion in infants repeatedly confirms the rapid efficacy of relatively small amounts of intravenous or intramuscular magnesium in controlling neurologic signs and restoring serum levels (39, 197). Parenteral administration is recommended at 0.3–0.5 meq (3.6–6 mg) per kilogram body weight as 50% magnesium sulfate over the first several hours, followed by an equal amount either intramuscularly or intravenously over the remainder of the day. If the child is symptomatic, calcium should also be infused with potassium and other electrolytes as indicated. Duration, route of administration, and dosage will depend upon the severity and etiology of the depletion. Where chronic malabsorption is marked, as in primary magnesium depletion, 1.0–1.5 meq/kg orally in multiple divided doses should be tested; experience has indicated that this dosage schedule raises serum levels to nearly normal without inducing diarrhea (182).

### HYPERMAGNESEMIA AND MAGNESIUM TOXICITY

Magnesium salts as cathartics have a long history and are still in use, with the sulfate, hydroxide, and citrate forms being commonly used. Since 20% or more of Mg<sup>2+</sup> may be absorbed and may have a systemic effect in the presence of renal insufficiency, magnesium salts are best avoided in such patients.

The normal kidney is capable of excreting absorbed or injected magnesium ion so rapidly that serum levels do not rise to clinically dangerous levels. In the treatment of preeclampsia, eclampsia, and premature labor with magnesium salts, relatively massive doses have been given as a loading dose followed by maintenance doses; the objective is to maintain the serum level at 5 to 8 meq/L (37, 42, 45). Patients with normal kidneys were able to excrete 40–60g of magnesium sulfate per day when given by persistent infusion (56). Hypermagnesemia may develop in other clinical situations in which magnesium-containing drugs, usually antacids or cathertics, are given to individuals with renal insufficiency or when large amounts of the ion are given inadvertently by the parenteral routes (138). In acute renal failure with oliguria, especially in the presence of acidosis, tissue release in association with the usual intake of magnesium results in some degree of hypermagnesemia.

Mordes & Wacker (138) reviewed in detail the effects of magnesium excess, which are multiple and potentially lethal, especially above 8 meq/L.

Uremic symptoms may mask those of hypermagnesemia. The widely held belief that magnesium is an anesthetic and a major central nervous system depressant is not correct unless it is given intrathecally or intraventricularly or is applied directly to nervous tissue (138). Uptake of magnesium from the blood into the central nervous system is quite limited. Calcium infusion counteracts magnesium toxicity, but dialysis is the treatment of choice (86).

Serum magnesium levels should be obtained in all instances of acute renal failure at suitable intervals and monitored in chronic renal insufficiency. Hypermagnesemia should be suspected in instances of low anion gap in stable patients and of normal anion gap in severely ill acidotic patients (86).

### Literature Cited

- 1. Abraham, A. S., Eylath, U., Weinstein, M., Czaczkes, E. 1977. Serum magnesium levels in patients with acute myocardial infarction. N. Engl. J. Med. 296:862–63
- 2. Abraham, A. S., Shaoul, R., Shimonovitz, E., Eylath, U., Weinstein, M. 1980. Serum magnesium levels in acute medical and surgical conditions. Biochem. Med. 24:21-26
- 3. Abraham, A. S., Weinstein, M., Eylath, U., Czaczkes, E. 1978. Magnesium levels in patients with chronic ischemic heart disease. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 31: 1400-2
- Albert, D. G., Morita, Y., Iseri, L. T. 1958. Serum magnesium and plasma sodium levels in essential vascular hypertension. Circulation 17:761-63
- 4. Alcock, N. W., Shils, M. E. 1974. Comparison of magnesium deficiency in the rat and mouse. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 146:137-41
- Alfrey, A. C., Miller, N., Butkus, D. 1974. Evaluation of body magnesium stores. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 84:153-62
- 6. Alfrey, A. C., Miller, N. L., Trow, R. 1974. Effect of age and magnesium depletion on bone magnesium pools in rats. J. Clin. Invest. 54:1074-81
- 7. Alleyne, G. A., Millward, D. J., Scullard, G. H. 1970. Total body potassium, muscle electrolytes, and glycogen in malnourished children. J. Pediatr. 76: 75–81
- 8. Altura, B. M., Altura, B. T. 1984. Magnesium, electrolyte transport and coronary vascular tone. Drugs 28(Suppl.): 120-42
- 9. Altura, B. M., Altura, B. T. 1985. New perspectives on the role of magnesium in the pathophysiology of the cardiovascular system. I. Clinical aspects. Magnesium 4:226-44

- 10. Altura, B. M., Altura, B. T. 1985. New perspectives on the role of magnesium in the pathophysiology of the cardiovascular system. II. Experimental aspects. Magnesium 4:245-71
- 11. Altura, B. M., Altura, B. T. 1987. Endothelium-dependent relaxation
- coronary arteries requires magnesium ions. Br. J. Pharmacol. 91:449-51

  12. Anast, C. S., Mohs, J. M., Kaplan, S. L., Burns, T. W. 1972. Evidence for parathyroid failure in magnesium deficiency. Science 177:606-8
- 13. Anast, C. S., Winnacker, J. L., Forte, L. R., Burns, T. W. 1976. Impaired release of parathyroid hormone in magnesium deficiency. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 42:707-17
- 14. Anderson, T. W., Neri, L. C., Schreiber, G. B., Talbot, F. D., Zdrojewski, A. 1975. Letter: Ischemic heart disease, water hardness and myocardial magnesium. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 113:199-203
- 15. Back, E. H., Montgomery, R. D., Ward, E. E. 1962. Neurological manifestations of magnesium deficiency in infantile gastroenteritis and malnutrition Arch. Dis. Child. 37:106-9
- 16. Baehler, R. W., Work, J., Kotchen, T. A., McMorrow, G., Guthrie, G. 1980. Studies on the pathogenesis of Bartter's syndrome. Am. J. Med. 69:933-38
- 17. Bailly, C., Roinel, N., Amiel, C. 1984. PTH-like glucagon stimulation of Ca and Mg reabsorption in Henle's loop of the rat. Am. J. Physiol 246(Pt. 2):F205-
- 18. Baldwin, D., Robinson, P. K., Zierler, K. L., Lilienthal, J. L. Jr. 1952. Interrelations of magnesium, potassium, phosphorus, and creatinine in skeletal muscle of man. J. Clin. Invest. 31:850-
- 19. Bar, R. G., Wilson, H. E., Mazzaferri,

- E. C. 1975. Hypomagnesemic hypocalcemia secondary to renal magnesium wasting. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 82:646–49
- Bardgett, J. J., Stein, J. H. 1978. Pathophysiology of Barrter's syndrome. In Acid-Base and Potassium Homeostasis, ed. B. M. Brenner, J. H. Stein, p. 272. New York: Churchill-Livingstone
- Barnes, B. A., Cope, O., Gorden, E. B. 1960. Magnesium requirements and deficits: An evaluation in two surgical patients. Ann. Surg. 152:518-33
- Bauer, F. K., Martin, H. E., Mickey, M. R. 1965. Exchangeable magnesium in hypertension. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol.* Med. 120:466-68
- Behar, J. 1974. Magnesium absorption by the rat ileum and colon. Am. J. Physiol. 227:334–40
- Bell, D. R., Woods, R. L., Levi, J. A. 1985. Cis-Diammine dichloroplatinum induced hypomagnesemia and renal magnesium wasting. Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol. 21:287-90
- Bellin, S. A., Herting, D. C., Cramer, J. W., Pileggi, V. J., Steenbock, H. 1984. The effect of vitamin D on urinary citrate in relation to calcium, phosphorus and urinary pH. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 50:18-24
- Bersohn, M. M., Shine, K. I., Sterman, W. D. 1982. Effect of increased magnesium on recovery from ischemia in rat and rabbit hearts. Am. J. Physiol. 242:H89-93
- Birkenhäger, W. H., Moser, M. 1986.
   Diuretics in the 1980's: Issues and insights. *Drugs* 31(Suppl. 4):1-209
- Booth, C. C., Barbours, N., Hanna, S., MacIntyre, I. 1963. Incidence of hypermagnesemia in intestinal malabsorption. Br. Med. J. 2:141-44
- Boyd, J. C., Burns, E. E., Wills, M. R. 1983. Frequency of hypomagnesemia in hypokalemic states. *Clin. Chem.* 29: 178-79
- Braden, G. L., Germain, M. J., Fitzgibbons, J. P. 1985. Impaired potassium and magnesium homeostasis in acute tubulo-interstitial nephritis. Nephron 41:273-78
- Brannan, P. G., Vergne-Marini, P., Pak, C. Y. Hull, A. R., Fordtran, J. S. 1976. Magnesium absorption in the human small intestine. Results in normal subjects, patients with chronic renal disease, and patients with absorptive hypercalciuria. J. Clin. Invest. 57:1412-18
- Burges, J. L., Birchall, R. 1972. Nephrotoxicity of amphotericin B, with emphasis on changes in tubular function. Am. J. Med. 53:77-84

- Butler, A. M. 1950. Diabetic coma. N. Engl. J. Med. 234:648–56
- Caddell, J. L., Goddard, D. R. 1967: Studies in protein-calorie malnutrition.
   Chemical evidence for magnesium deficiency. N. Engl. J. Med. 276:535– 40
- Caralis, P. V., Perez-Stable, E. 1986. Electrolyte abnormalities and ventricular arrhythmias. *Drugs* 31(Suppl. 4):85– 100
- Carney, S. L., Wong, N. L., Quamme, G. A., Dirks, J. H. 1980. Effect of magnesium deficiency on renal magnesium and calcium transport in the rat. J. Clin. Invest. 65:180-88
- Carpenter, T. O., Carnes, D. L. Jr., Anast, C. S. 1987. Effect of magnesium depletion on metabolism of 25hydroxyvitamin D in rats. Am. J. Physiol. 253:106-13
- Cholst, I. N., Steinberg, S. F., Tropper, P. J., Fox, H. E., Segre, G. V., et al. 1984. The influence of hypermagnesemia on serum calcium and parathyroid hormone levels in human subjects. N. Engl. J. Med. 310:1221-25
- Christiansen, C., Nielsen, S. P., Rodbro, P. 1974. Letter: Anticonvulsant hypomagnesaemia. *Br. Med. J.* 1:198–99
- Clarke, P. C., Carre, I. J. 1967.
   Hypocalcemic, hypomagnesemic convulsions. J. Pediatr. 5:806–9
- Clarkson, E. M., McDonald, S. J., De-Wardener, E., Warren, R. 1965. Magnesium metabolism in chronic renal failure. Clin. Sci. 28:107-15
- Crawford, T., Crawford, M. D. 1967. Prevalence and pathological changes of ischaemic heart-disease in a hard-water and in a soft-water area. *Lancet* 1:229– 32
- Cruikshank, D. P., Pitkin, R. M., Reynolds, W. A., Williams, G. A., Hargis, G. K. 1979. Effects of magnesium sulfate treatment on perinatal calcium metabolism. I. Maternal and fetal responses. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 134:243-49
- Davis, B. B., Preuss, H. G., Murdaugh, H. V. Jr. 1975. Hypomagnesemia following the diuresis of post-renal obstruction and renal transplant. Nephron 14:275-80
- Dominguez, J. H., Gray, R. W., Lemann, J. Jr. 1976. Dietary phosphate deprivation in women and men: effects on mineral and acid balances, parathyroid hormone and the metabolism of 25-OH-vitamin D. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 43:1056-68

- Donovan, E. F., Tsang, R. C., Steichen, J. J., Strub, R. J., Chen, I. W., et al. 1980. Neonatal hypermagnesemia: effect on parathyroid hormone and calcium homeostasis. J. Pediatr. 96:305-10
- Drenick, E. J., Hunt, I. F., Swendseid, M. E. 1969. Magnesium depletion during prolonged fasting of obese males. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 29:1341-48
- Duarte, C. G. 1968. Effects of ethacrynic acid and furosemide on urinary calcium, phosphate and magnesium. Metabolism 17:867-76
- Dunn, M. J., Walser, M. 1966. Magnesium depletion in normal man. *Metabol-ism* 15:884-95
- Dyckner, T. 1980. Serum magnesium in acute myocardial infarction. Relation to arrhythmias. Acta Med. Scand. 207:59– 66
- Dyckner, T., Wester, P. O. 1979. Ventricular extrasystoles and intracellular electrolytes before and after magnesium infusion in patients on diuretic treatment. Am. Heart J. 97:12-18
- Dyckner, T., Wester, P. O. 1983. Effect of magnesium on blood pressure. Br. Med. J. 286:1847-49
- Dyckner, T., Wester, P. O. 1987. Potassium/magnesium depletion in patients with cardiovascular disease. Am. J. Med. 82(Suppl. 3A):1-3
- Eisenberg, M. J. 1986. Magnesium deficiency and cardiac arrythmias. NY State J. Med. 86:133-36
- Elmwood, P. C., Sweetman, P. M., Beasley, W. H., Jones, D., France, R. 1980. Magnesium and calcium in the myocardium: cause of death and area differences. *Lancet* 2:720-22
- Ewald, U., Gebre-Medhin, M., Tuvemo, T. 1983. Hypomagnesemia in diabetic children. Acta Paediatr. Scand. 72:367-71
- Fitzgerald, M. G., Fourman, P. 1956.
   An experimental study of magnesium deficiency in man. Clin. Sci. 15:635-47
- Flink, E. B. 1969. Therapy of magnesium deficiency. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 162:901-5
- Flink, E. B. 1986. Magnesium deficiency in alcoholism. Alcoholism 10:590-94
- Flink, E. B., Brick, J. E., Shane, S. R. 1981. Alterations of long-chain free fatty acid and magnesium concentrations in acute myocardial infarction. Arch. Intern. Med. 141:441-43
- Flink, E. B., Stutzman, F., Anderson, A. R., Konig, T., Fraser, R., et al. 1954. Magnesium deficiency after pro-

- longed parenteral fluid administration and after chronic alcoholism complicated by delerium tremens. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 43:169–83
- Food and Nutrition Board. 1980. Recommended Dietary Allowances. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Sci. 185 pp.
- Food and Nutrition Board, NRC-NAS. 1986. Recommended dietary allowances: Scientific issues and process for the future. J. Nutr. 116:482-88
- Forster, A., Stalder, R., Bloch, A., Suter, P. 1981. The value of serum magnesium estimations in the diagnosis of acute perioperative myocardial infarction after coronary artery surgery. J. Cardiovasc. Surg. 22:163-65
- Fort, P., Lifshitz, F. 1986. Magnesium status in children with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 5:69-78
- 64. Freitag, J. J., Martin, K. J., Conrades, M. B., Bellorin-Font, E., Teitelbaum, S., et al. 1979. Evidence for skeletal resistance to parathyroid hormone in magnesium deficiency. Studies in isolated perfused bone. J. Clin. Invest. 64:1238-44
- Fuss, M., Cogan, E., Gillet, C., Karmali, R., Guerts, J., et al. 1985. Magnesium administration reverses the hypocalcemia secondary top hypomagnesemia despite low circulating levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D. Clin. Endocrin. 22:807-15
- 66. Garabedian, M., Tanaka, Y., Holick, M. F., DeLuca, H. F. 1974. Response of intestinal calcium transport and bone calcium mobilization to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> in thyroparathyroidectomized rats. *Endocrinology* 94:1022-27
- Garty, R., Alkalay, A., Bernheim, J. L. 1983. Parathyroid hormone secretion and responsiveness to parathyroid hormone in primary hypomagnesemia. *Isr. J. Med. Sci.* 19:345–48
- Garlach, K., Morowitz, D. A., Kirsner, J. B. 1970. Symptomatic hypomagnesemia complicating regional enteritis. Gastroenterology 59:567-74
- 69. Deleted in proof
- Graber, M. L., Schulman, G. 1986. Hypomagnesemic hypocalcemia independent of parathyroid hormone. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 104:804-5
- Graham, L. A., Ceasar, J. J., Burgen, A. S. 1960. Gastrointestinal absorption and excretion of Mg 28 in man. *Metab. Clin. Exp.* 9:646-59
- 72. Gullner, H. G., Bartter, F. C., Gill, J.

- R. Jr., Dickman, P. S., Wilson, C. B., et al. 1983. A sibship with hypokalemic alkalosis and renal proximal tubulopathy. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 143:1534-40
- Gullner, H. G., Gill, J. R., Bartter, F. C. 1981. Correction of hypokalemia by magnesium repletion in familial hypokalemic alkalosis with tubulopathy. Am. J. Med. 71:578-82
- Hammer, D. I., Heyden, S. 1980. Water hardness and cardiovascular mortality. An idea that has served its purpose. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 243:2399-2400
- Havlik, R. J., Feinleib, M., eds. 1979.
   Proc. Conf. Decline in Coronary Artery Disease Mortality, Publ. No. 79-1610.
   Bethesda: Natl. Inst. Health. 399 pp.
- Heaton, F. W. 1969. The kidney and magnesium homeostasis. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 162:775-85
- Heacker, B. R., Lake, C. L., Kron, I. L., Mentzer, R. M., Crosby, I. K., et al. 1985. Influence of magnesium ion on human ventricular defibrillation after aortocoronary bypass surgery. Am. J. Cardiol. 55:61-64
- Hedemann, L., Strunge, P., Munck, V. 1986. The familial magnesium-losing kidney. Acta Med. Scand. 219:133–36
- Heipertz, R., Eickhoff, K., Karstens, K. H. 1979. Cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of magnesium and inorganic phosphate in epilepsy. J. Neurol. Sci. 41:55-60
- Helfant, R. H. 1986. Hypokalemia and arrythmias. Am. J. Med. 80(Suppl. 4a):13-22
- Hirschfelder, A. D., Haury, V. G. 1934. Clinical manifestations of high and low plasma magnesium. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 102:1138-41
- Hodgkinson, A., Marshall, D. H., Nordin, B. E. 1979. Vitamin D and magnesium absorption in man. Clin. Sci. 57:121-23
- Holland, O. B. 1986. Potassium loss, ventricular irritability, and the risk of sudden death in hypertensive patients. *Drugs* 31(Suppl. 4):78-84
- Hollenberg, N. K. 1986. Potassium, magnesium and cardiovascular morbidity. Am. J. Med. 80(Suppl. 4a):1–36
- Hollenberg, N. K., Hollilfield, J. W. 1987. Potassium/magnesium depletion: Is your patient at risk of sudden death? Am. J. Med. 82(Suppl. 3a):1-53
- Hollifield, J. W. 1986. Thiazide treatment of hypertension. Effects of thiazide diuretics on serum potassium, magnesium and ventricular ectopy. Am. J. Med. 80(Suppl. 4a):8–12
- 87. Horie, M., İrisawa, H. 1987. Rectification of muscarinic K<sup>+</sup> current by magne-

- sium ion in guinea pig atrial cells. Am. J. Physiol. 253(Pt. 2):H210-14
- Horton, R., Biglieri, E. G. 1962. Effect of aldosterone on the metabolism of magnesium. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 22:1187-92
- Hulter, H. N., Peterson, J. C. 1984. Renal and systemic magnesium metabolism during chronic continuous PTH infusion in normal subjects. *Metabolism* 33:662-66
- kram, H., Espiner, E. A., Nicholls, M. G. 1986. Diuretics, potassium and arrhythmias in hypertensive coronary disease. *Drugs* 31(Suppl. 4):101-8
- Iseri, L. T., Fairshter, R. D., Hardemann, J. L., Brodsky, M. A. 1985.
   Magnesium and potassium therapy in multifocal atrial tachycardia. Am. Heart J. 110:789-94
- Iseri, L. T., French, J. H. 1984. Magnesium: nature's physiologic calcium blocker. Am. Heart J. 108:188-93
- Jacobs, A. L., Pennell, J. P., Lambert, P. W., Gavellas, G. 1981. Vitamin D metabolites and parathyroid hormone in hypomagnesemic hypocalcemia. Miner. Electrolyte Metab. 6:316-22
- Johannesson, A. J., Raisz, L. G. 1983. Effects of low medium magnesium concentration on bone resorption in response to parathyroid hormone and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in organ culture. *Endocrinology* 113:2294-98
- Johnson, C. J., Peterson, D. R., Surith, E. K. 1979. Myocardial tissue concentrations of magnesium and potassium in men dying suddenly from ischemic heart disease. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 32: 967-70
- Jones, J. E., Desper, P. C., Shane, S. R., Flink, E. B. 1966. Magnesium metabolism in hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism. J. Clin. Invest. 45: 891–900
- Jones, C. T., Sellwood, R. A., Evanson, J. M. 1973. Symptomatic hypomagnesaemia after parathyroidectomy. Br. Med. J. 3:391–92
- Jones, J. E., Shane, S. R., Jacobs, W. H., Flink, E. B. 1969. Magnesium balance studies in chronic alcoholism. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 162:934–46
- Kafka, H., Langevin, L., Armstrong, P. W. 1987. Serum magnesium and potassium in acute myocardial infarction. Influence on ventricular arrythmias. Arch. Intern. Med. 147:465-69
- 100. Kalsner, S. 1983. The effect of magnesium deficiency and excess on bovine coronary artery tone and responses to agonists. Br. J. Pharmacol. 78:629-38
- 101. Kelnar, C. J. H., Taor, W. S.,

- Reynolds, D. J., Smith, D. R., Slavin, B. M., et al. 1978. Hypomagnesaemic hypocalcaemia with hypokaemia caused by treatment with high dose gentamycin. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 53:817–20
- Kenny, M. A., Casillas, E., Ahmad, S. 1987. Magnesium, calcium and PTH relationships in dialysis patients after magnesium repletion. Nephron 46:199– 205
- Kingston, M. E., Al-Siba'i, M. B., Skooge, W. C. 1986. Clinical manifestations of hypomagnesemia. Crit. Care Med. 14:950-54
- 104. Kleiger, R. E., Seta, K., Vitale, J. J., Lown, B. 1966. Effect of chronic depletion of potassium and magnesium upon the action of acetylstrophanthidin on the heart. Am. J. Cardiol. 17:520-27
- Kopple, J. D., Coburn, J. W. 1973. Metabolic studies of low protein diets in uremia. II. Calcium, phosphorus and magnesium. *Medicine* 52:597-607
- 106. Krejs, G. J., Nicar, M. J., Zewekh, J. E., Norman, D. A., Kane, M. G., et al. 1983. Effect of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> on calcium and magnesium absorption in the healthy human jejunum and ileum. Am. J. Med. 75:973-76
- 107. Kreusser, W., Kurokawa, K., Aznar, E., Sachtjen, E., Massry, S. 1978. Effect of phosphate depletion on magnesium homeostasis in the rat. J. Clin. Invest. 61:573-81
- 108. Ku, D. D., Ann, H. S. 1987. Magnesium deficiency produces endotheliumdependent vasorelexation in canine coronary arteries. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 241:961-66
- 109. Kuller, L., Farrier, N., Caggiula, A., Borhani, N., Dunkle, S. 1985. Relationship of diuretic therapy and serum magnesium levels among participants in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Am. J. Epidemiol. 122:1045-59
- Lakshmanan, F. L., Rao, R. B., Kim, W. W., Kelsay, J. L. 1984. Magnesium intakes, balances, and blood levels of adults consuming self-selected diets. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 40(Suppl. 6):1380-89
- 111. LeGrimellec, C., Roinel, N., Morel, F. 1973. Simultaneous Mg, Ca, P, K, Na and Cl analysis in rat tubular fluid. I. During perfusion of either insulin or ferrocyanide. *Pflugers Arch*. 340:181–96
- 112. Lennon, E. J., Piering, W. F. 1970. A comparison of the effects of glucose ingestion and NH<sub>4</sub>Cl acidosis on urinary calcium and magnesium excretion in man. J. Clin. Invest. 49:1458-65
- Leoni, V., Fabiani, L., Ticchiarelli, L. 1985. Water hardness and cardiovascu-

- lar mortality rate in Abruzzo, Italy. Arch. Environ. Health 40:274-78
- 114. Deleted in proof
- 115. Levine, B. S., Coburn, J. W. 1984. Editorial. Magnesium, the mimic/ antagonist of calcium. N. Engl. J. Med. 310:1253-54
- Lifshitz, F., Harrison, H. C., Harrison, H. E. 1967. Effects of vitamin D on magnesium metabolism in rats. Endocrinology 81:849-53
- Lim, P., Jacob, E. 1972. Tissue magnesium in chronic diarrhea. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 80:313-21
- Lindeman, R. D. 1986. Chronic renal failure and magnesium metabolism. Magnesium 5:293-300
- Linder, G. C., Hansen, J. D. L., Karabus, C. D. 1963. The metabolism of magnesium and other inorganic cations and of nitrogen in acute kwashiorkor. *Pediatrics* 31:552-68
- Lowenstein, F. W., Stanton, M. F. 1986. Serum magnesium levels in the United States, 1971-74. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 5:399-414
- 121. Luoma, H., Aromaa, A., Helminen, S., Murtomaa, H., Kiviluoto, L., et al. 1983. Risk of myocardial infarction in Finnish men in relation to fluoride, magnesium and calcium concentration in drinking water. Acta Med. Scand. 213:171-76
- 122. Mace, J. W., Hambidge, K. M., Gotlin, R. W., Dubois, R. S., Solomons, C. S., et al. 1973. Magnesium supplementation in Bartter's syndrome. Arch. Dis. Child 48:485-87
- MacIntyre, I., Hanna, S. S., Booth, C. C., Reed, A. E. 1961. Intracellular magnesium deficiency in man. Clin. Sci. 20:297-305
- 124. Main, A. N., Morgan, R. J., Russell, R. I., Hall, M. J., MacKenzie, J. F. et al. 1981. Mg deficiency in chronic inflammatory bowel disease and requirements during intravenous nutrition. J. Parenteral Enteral Nutr. 5:15-19
- 125. Manthey, J., Stoeppler, M., Morgenstern, W., Nussel, E., Opherk, D., et al. 1981. Magnesium and frace metals: risk factors for coronary heart disease? Association between blood levels and angiographic findings. Circulation 64: 722-29
- Marier, J. R. 1982. Quantitative factors regarding magnesium status in the modern-day world. *Magnesium* 1:3-15
- 127. Marone, C. C., Sutton, R. A. 1983. Effects of acute metabolic acid-base changes and furosemide on magnesium excretion in rats. *Metabolism* 32:1033– 37

- Martin, H. E. 1969. Clinical magnesium deficiency. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 162: 891–900
- McCaffrey, C., Quamme, G. A. 1984.
   Effects of thyroid status on renal calcium and magnesium handling. Can. J. Comp. Med. 48:51-57
- McCarron, D. A., Morris, C. D., Cole, C. 1982. Dietary calcium in human hypertension. Science 217:267-69
- 131. Medalle, R., Waterhouse, C. 1973. A magnesium-deficient patient presenting with hypocalcemia and hyperphosphatemia. Ann. Intern. Med. 79:76-79
- Medalle, R., Waterhouse, C., Hahn, T. J. 1976. Vitamin D resistance in magnesium deficiency. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 29:854-58
- 133. Mennes, P., Rosenbaum, R., Martin, K., Slatopolsky, E. 1978. Hypomagnesemia and impaired parathyroid hormone secretion in chronic renal disease. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 88:206-9
- 134. Milla, P. J., Aggett, P. J., Wolff, O. H., Harries, J. T. 1979. Studies in primary hypomagnesaemia: evidence for defective carrier-mediated small intestinal transport of magnesium. Gut 20:1028–33
- Miller, P. D., Krebs, R. A., Neal, B. J., McIntyre, D. O. 1979. Hypomagnesemia. Suppression of secondary hyperparathyroidism in chronic renal failure. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 241:722-23
- 136. Mimouni, F., Miodovnik, M., Tsang, R. C., Holroyde, J., Dignan, P. S., et al. 1987. Polycythemia, hypomagnesemia, and hypocalcemia in infants of diabetic mothers. Obstet. Gynecol. 70:85-88
- Montgomery, R. D. 1960. Magnesium deficiency and tetany in kwashiorkor. *Lancet* 2:74-75
- 138. Mordes, J. P., Wacker, W. E. 1977. Excess magnesium. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 29:273-300
- Motil, K. J., Altschuler, S. I., Grand, R. J. 1985. Mineral balance during nutritional supplementation in adolescents with Crohn's disease and growth failure. J. Pediatr. 107:473-79
- 140. Muldowney, F. P., McKenna, T. J., Kyle, L. H., Freaney, R., Swan, M. 1970. Parathormone-like effect of magnesium replenishment in steatorrhea. N. Engl. J. Med. 282:61-68
- Nichols, B. L., Alvarado, J., Hazlewood, C. F., Viteri, F. 1978. Magnesium supplementation in protein-calorie malnutrition. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 31:176– 88
- Nordrehaug, J. E., Johannessen, K. A., von der Lippe, G. 1985. Serum potas-

- sium concentration as a risk factor of ventricular arrythmias early in acute myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 71:645–49
- 143. Old, C. W., Siedlecki, M., Duarte, C. G., Phillips, R. 1984. Effects of desoxy-corticosterone acetate on magnesium metabolism in potassium-depleted rats. Magnesium 3:95-106
- 144. Ozols, R. F., Corden, B. J., Jacob, J., Wesley, M. N., Ostchega, Y., et al. 1984. High-dose cisplatin in hypertonic saline. Ann. Intern. Med. 100:19-24
- 145. Pak, C. Y., Diller, E. C. 1969. Ionic interaction with bone mineral. V. Effect of Mg<sup>2+</sup>, citrate<sup>3-</sup>, F<sup>-</sup> and SO<sup>2</sup><sub>4</sub> on the solubility, dissolution and growth of bone mineral. Calcif. Tissue Res. 4:69-77
- Petersen, V. P. 1963. Metabolic studies in clinical magnesium deficiency. Acta Med. Scand. 173:285-98
- Pletka, P., Bernstein, D. S., Hampers, C. L., Merrill, J. P., Sherwood, L. M. 1974. Relationship between magnesium and secondary hyperparathyroidism during long-term hemodialysis. *Metabolism* 23:619–30
- Quamme, G. A. 1980. Effect of calcitonin on calcium and magnesium transport in rat nephron. Am. J. Physiol. 238: E573-78
- Quamme, G. A. 1986. Renal handling of magnesium: drug and hormone interactions. *Magnesium* 5:248-72
- Quamme, G. A., Carney, S. L., Wong, N. L., Dirks, J. H. 1980. Effect of parathyroid hormone on renal calcium and magnesium reabsorption in magnesium deficient rats. *Pflugers Arch*. 386:59-65
- 151. Quamme, G. A., Dirks, J. H. 1980. Intraluminal and contraluminal magnesium on magnesium and calcium transfer in the rat nephron. Am. J. Physiol. 238:F187-98
- 152. Ralston, S., Boyle, I. T., Cowan, R. A., Crean, G. P., Jenkins, A., et al. 1983. PTH and vitamin D responses during treatment of hypomagnesaemic hypoparathyroidism. Acta Endocrinol. 103:535-38
- 153. Rector, W. G., Jr., DeWood, M. A., Williams, R. V., Sullivan, J. F. 1981. Serum magnesium and copper levels in myocardial infarction. Am. J. Med. Sci. 281:25-29
- Reddy, F., Sivakumar, B. 1974. Magnesium dependent vitamin D resistant rickets. Lancet 1:963-65
- Resnick, L. M., Laragh, J. H., Sealey, J. E., Alderman, M. H. 1983. Divalent cations in essential hypertension. Relations between serum ionized calcium,

- magnesium, and plasma renin activity. N. Engl. J. Med. 309:888-91
- Rosen, E. U., Campbell, P. G., Moosa,
   G. M. 1970. Hypomagnesemia and magnesium therapy in protein-calorie malnutrition. J. Pediatr. 77:709-14
- Rosler, A., Rabinowitz, D. 1973. Magnesium-induced reversal of vitamin-D resistance in hypoparathyroidism. *Lancet* 1:803-4
- 158. Rude, R. K., Adams, J. S., Ryzen, E., Endres, D. B., Niimi, H., et al. 1985. Low serum concentrations of 1,25dihydroxy vitamin D in human magnesium deficiency. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 61:933-40
- Rude, R. K., Oldham, S. B., Sharp, C. F. Jr., Singer, F. R. 1978. Parathyroid hormone secretion in magnesium deficiency. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 47:800-6
- Rudman, D., Dedonis, J. L., Fountain, M. T., Chandler, J. B., Gerron, G. G., et al. 1980. Hypocitraturia in patients with gastrointestinal malabsorption. N. Engl. J. Med. 303:657-61
- 161. Ryan, M. P., Devane, J., Ryan, M. F., Counihan, T. B. 1984. Effects of diuretics on the renal handling of magnesium. *Drugs* 28(Suppl. 1):167-81
- 162. Ryzen, E., Wagers, P. W., Singer, F. R., Rude, R. K. 1985. Magnesium deficiency in a medical ICU population. Crit. Care Med. 13:19-21
- 163. Schmulen, A. C., Lerman, M., Pak, C. Y., Zerwekh, J., Morawski, S., et al. 1980. Effect of 1,25-(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> on jejunal absorption of magnesium in patients with chronic renal disease. Am. J. Physiol. 238:G349-52
- 164. Seelig, J. M., Wei, E. P., Kontos, H. A., Choi, S. C., Becker, D. P. 1983. Effect of changes in magnesium ion concentration on cat cerebral arterioles. Am. J. Physiol. 245:H22-26
- 165. Seelig, M. S. 1964. The requirements of magnesium by the normal adult. Summary and analyses of published data. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 14:342-90
- 166. Seelig, M. S., Heggtveit, H. A. 1974. Magnesium interrelations in ischemic heart disease: a review. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 27:59-79
- 167. Shareghi, G. R., Agus, Z. S. 1982. Magnesium transport in the cortical thick ascending limb of Henle's loop of the rabbit. J. Clin. Invest. 69:759– 69
- Sherwin, R. 1984. Sudden death in men with increased risk of myocardial infarction. The MRFIT programme. *Drugs* 28(Suppl. 1):46-53
- 169. Shils, M. E. 1969. Experimental human

- magnesium depletion. *Medicine* 48:61–85
- Shils, M. E. 1980. Magnesium, calcium, and parathyroid hormone interactions. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 355:165–80
- 171. Shils, M. E. 1976. Magnesium deficiency and calcium and parathyroid hormone interrelation In *Trace Elements in Human Health and Disease*, ed. A. Prasad, 2:23-46. New York: Academic
- 172. Shils, M. E. 1988. Magnesium. In Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease, ed. M. E. Shils, V. R. Young, pp. 159-92. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger
- 173. Sjogren, A., Floren, C. H., Nilsson, A. 1986. Magnesium deficiency in IDDM related to levels of glycosolated hemoglobin. *Diabetes* 35:459-63
- 174. Špeich, M. 1987. Magnesium and creatine kinase in myocardial infarction: new data. Clin. Chem. 33:739–40
- 175. Speich, M., Bousquet, B., Nicholas, G. 1980. Concentrations of magnesium, calcium, potassium, and sodium in human heart muscle after acute myocardial infarction. Clin. Chem. 26:1662-65
- 176. Speich, M., Chappuls, P., Robinet, N., Gelot, S., Arnaud, P., et al. 1987. Se, Zn, Mg, Ca, K, cholesterol and creatinine kinase concentrations in men during the 12 days after an acute myocardial infarction. Clin. Chem. 33:21-23
- Spencer, H. 1986. Minerals and mineral interactions in human beings. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 86:864-67
- 178. Spencer, H., Kramer, L., Gatza, C., et al. 1979. Magnesium-phosphorus interactions in man In Trace Substances in Environmental Health—XIII, ed. D. D. Hemphill. Columbia, Mo: Univ. Missouri
- 179. Spencer, H., Lesniak, M., Gatza, C. A., Osis, D., Lender, M. 1980. Magnesium absorption and metabolism in patients with chronic renal failure and in patients with normal renal function. Gastroenterology 79:26-34
- 180. Spencer, H., Lesniak, M., Kramer, L., et al. 1980. Studies of magnesium metabolism in man In Magnesium in Health and Disease, ed. M. S. Seelig, pp. 911-19. New York: Spectrum
- Stendig-Lindberg, G., Bergstrom, J., Hultman, E. 1977. Hypomagnesaemia and muscle electrolytes and metabolites. Acta Med. Scand. 201:273-80
- 182. Stromme, J. H., Steen-Johnsen, J., Harnaes. K., Hofstad, F., Brandtzaeg, P. 1981. Familial hypomagnesemaia—a follow-up examination of three patients after 9 to 12 years of treatment. *Pediatr. Res.* 15:1134-39

183. Deleted in proof

184. Sullivan, J. F., Wolpert, P. W., Williams, R., Egan, J. D. 1969. Serum magnesium in chronic alcoholism. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 162:947-62

185. Deleted in proof

- 186. Thompson, C. B., June, C. H., Sullivan, K. M., Thomas, E. D. 1984. Association between cyclosporin neurotoxicity and hypomagnesaemia. *Lancet* 2:1116-20
- 187. Thulin, T., Abdulla, M., Dencker, I., Jagerstad, M., Melander, A., et al. 1980. Comparison of energy and nutrient intakes in women with high and low blood pressure levels. Acta Med. Scand. 208:367–73
- Tsang, R. C., Strub, R., Brown, D. R., Steichen, J., Hartman, C., et al. 1976. Hypomagnesemia in infants of diabetic mothers: perinatal studies. J. Pediatr. 89:115-19
- 188a. US Dept. Health Human Serv. 1986. Nutrition Monitoring in the US, DHHS Publ. 86-1255, Publ. Health Serv. Washington, DC: GPO. 356 pp.
- 189. Vandenberg, C. A. 1987. Inward rectification of a potassium channel in cardiac ventricular cells depends on internal magnesium ions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84:2560–64
- 190. Walser, M. 1967. Magnesium metabolism. Ergeb. Physiol. 59:185-296
- 191. Webb, S., Schade, D. S. 1975. Letter: Hypomagnessemia as a cause of persistent hypokalemia. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 233:23–24
- 192. Whang, R., Oei, T. O., Aikawa, J. K., Watanabe, A., Vannatta, J., et al. 1984. Predictors of clinical hypomagnesemia, hypokalemia, hypophosphatemia, hyponatremia, and hypocalcemia. Arch. Intern. Med. 144:1794-96
- 193. Whang, R., Oei, T. O., Watanabe, A. 1985. Frequency of hypomagnesemia in hospitalized patients receiving digitalis. Arch. Intern. Med. 145:655–56
- 194. Wills, M. R. 1986. Magnesium and

- potassium. Interrelationships in cardiac
- disorders. *Drugs* 31(Suppl. 4):121-31 195. Wilz, D. R., Gray, R. W., Dominguez, J. H., Lemann, J. Jr. 1979. Plasma 1,25-(OH)2-vitamin D concentrations and net intestinal calcium, phospate, and magnesium absorption in humans. Am.
- J. Clin. Nutr. 32:2052-60 196. Wong, E. T., Rude, R. K., Singer, F. R., Shaw, S. T. Jr. 1983. A high prevalence of hypomagnesemia and hypermagnesemia in hospitalized patients. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 79:348–52
- 197. Wong, H. B., Teh, Y. F. 1968. An association between serum-magnesium and tremor and convulsions in infants and children. Lancet 2:18-21
- 198. Wong, N. L., Dirks, J. H., Quamme, G. A. 1983. Tubular reabsorptive capacity for magnesium in the dog kidney. Am. J. Physiol. 244:F78-83
- 199. Wong, N. L., Quamme, G. A., O'Callaghan, T. J., Sutton, R. A., Dirks, J. H. 1980. Renal tubular transport in phosphate depletion: a micropuncture study. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 58:1063-71
- 200. Wong, N. L., Quamme, G. A., Sutton, R. S., Dirks, J. H. 1979. Effects of mannitol on water and electrolyte transport in the dog kidney. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 94:683-92
- 201. Yamamoto, T., Kabata, H., Yagi, R., Takashima, M., Itokawa, Y. 1985. Primary hypomagnesemia with secondary hypocalcemia. Report of a case and review of the world literature. Magnesium 4:153-64
- 202. Yassa, R., Schwartz, G. 1984. Plasma magnesium and anticonvulsant therapy. NY State J. Med. 84:114-15
- 203. Zelikovic, I., Dabbagh, S., Friedman, A. L., Goelzer, M. L., Chesney, R. W. 1987. Severe renal osteodystrophy without elevated serum immunoreactive hormone concentration in hypomagnesemia due to renal magnesium wasting. Pediatrics 79:403-9